



PUTTING THE PIECES TOGETHER FOR FAMILIES WITH YOUNG CHILDREN:

ALIGNING STATE HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, NUTRITION, CHILD CARE, AND PAID FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

By Sapna Mehta and Elizabeth Lower-Basch | December 2023

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	2
Introduction	4
Current Program Coordination	5
Challenges to Program Coordination	7
Differences in program eligibility	7
Different state agencies	7
Different approaches to program design	8
Strategies and Solutions for Building an Integrated System for Families with Young Children	9
Conclusion	15
Appendix	
Methodology	16
Overview of Policies Impacting the Prenatal-to-Three Population	16
Endnotes	23



Executive Summary

The prenatal period through the first three years of a child's life is a critical developmental moment. Positive interactions with caregivers during these years can produce long-term benefits for children and families. And yet many families—especially families of color and families with low income—face systemic barriers and economic hardship when children are young. Public policy can help foster the nurturing environments children and families need to thrive and help reduce long-standing racial and ethnic disparities.

To improve economic, social, and health outcomes for our country's youngest children and their families, CLASP set out to explore the value and importance of integrating or aligning programs that support families with infants and toddlers. These programs include:

- The Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF), which helps pay for child care while parents work or are at school;
- Health care through Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP),
- Cash assistance under Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF);
- Nutrition support through the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC); and
- Paid family and medical leave (PFML), which enables workers to take paid leave from work to bond with a new child, care for a sick family member, or address their own serious health condition.

Specifically, we wanted to understand the extent to which these programs are already aligned or integrated, as well as the obstacles and challenges to program coordination and collaboration. We also wanted to hear from people running these programs or families seeking help from them about how to improve program access and ultimately improve outcomes for caregivers and young children. Coordination and collaboration between critical programs like Medicaid, TANF, SNAP, and WIC, as well as child care and paid family and medical leave, could help increase their usage and positive effects among families of color and families with low incomes.

To this end, CLASP conducted over two dozen interviews with state program administrators, community and policy advocates, and parents in California, Washington state, and Washington, D.C.—three places with paid family and medical leave programs. Through these interviews we found that there is currently little coordination in these three places across programs that may benefit families of infants and toddlers. In many ways, these three jurisdictions are leading the country in providing health care access, income and work supports, child care assistance, and employment protections to workers and families. Yet these jurisdictions offer minimal alignment across programs.

This white paper:

- Provides a broad overview of the programs for families with infants and toddlers in California,
 Washington state, and Washington, D.C. (a detailed Appendix includes more details about these policies);
- Shares how the programs currently coordinate or align;
- Outlines the challenges to better program coordination and integration;
- Provides considerations for how states can explore better program collaboration; and
- Identifies how to build stronger program alignment into new programs or legislative change.



Despite the real barriers to program integration, program administrators and policymakers have an opportunity to better align public programs for families of young children to improve access and user experience. In this paper, we discuss how states can enhance the customer experience in existing programs to increase program uptake and improve outcomes for children and families. We begin by discussing three underlying shifts that are needed to create the foundations for effective coordination:

- 1. Setting an explicit goal to improve the customer experience across programs and center those who are most impacted throughout the entire process;
- 2. Bolstering agency capacity; and
- 3. Supporting data sharing across agencies.

We then turn to approaches that states can take to remove the burden families face in learning about different programs they may be eligible for and applying for each of them separately. These approaches include:

- 1. Automatic enrollment;
- 2. Deemed income eligibility based on another program;
- 3. Creating a common online entry point for programs for families with young children;
- 4. Strengthening cross- agency referral and outreach; and
- 5. Investing in multiple modes of case management for targeted populations.

Ensuring families with very young children can access all the supports they are eligible for will require a new level of commitment from states and action and investment by federal agencies. This means prioritizing program access and streamlining enrollment across programs. Fortunately, states have explored varying degrees of program and agency collaboration and integration in recent decades to facilitate less burdensome access to traditional public benefit systems. States can continue to build upon this work to improve access for families.



Introduction

The prenatal period through the first three years of a child's life are shown to have significant effects on future learning, behavior, and health. This time period is critical for a child's development. Research demonstrates that positive interactions with caregivers during these years can produce long-term benefits for children, families, and society.¹ Material hardships—such as hunger, inadequate clothing or diapers, or unstable housing—directly harm young children's wellbeing and create stress among caregivers that can make it hard for them to provide the attention and connection children need to thrive.² Moreover, many families—particularly families of color and families with low incomes—face systemic barriers in the labor market and beyond³ and substantial economic challenges when children are young. Families with young children often have increased need for resources⁴ and frequently lose earnings due to their caregiving responsibilities,⁵ making them among the groups most likely to experience poverty.

According to CLASP's analysis of the U.S. Census Bureau's Supplemental Poverty Measure, which takes into account taxes and transfers, the poverty rate in 2022 for children birth to age 3 was 13.1 percent. This is slightly higher than the overall child poverty rate of 12.4 percent. Young children of color were more likely to live in families experiencing poverty than other children. The disparities are stark: nearly 20 percent of Black and Hispanic children ages 0-3 were in families experiencing poverty using the SPM, compared to just 7.5 percent of white children in this age range.⁶

Parents, caregivers, and families need sufficient resources to build economic security and stability and create nurturing environments for young children. Recognizing the needs of families with young children, several public programs support families of infants and toddlers. However, many of these programs fall short of truly and fully meeting the needs of families. In particular, the health and human services, nutrition, and child care programs suffer from inadequate funding to reach all who need them, are rooted in anti-Black racism, and exist in a current structure of white supremacy. Getting to a place where these programs could meet the needs of families with infants and toddlers will require significant, intentional undoing and reimagining—perhaps even the creation of a completely new system rooted in the worth of individuals and liberation. While we strive to achieve this, we must also consider how existing structures and programs can work better together and work better for families. The focus of this paper is to explore how to coordinate existing programs to better meet the needs of families.

In particular, we focus on the following federal programs that are implemented at the state level:

- The Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF), which helps pay for child care while parents work or are at school;
- Health care through Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP);
- Cash assistance under Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF);
- Nutrition support through the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC); and
- Paid family and medical leave (PFML) programs that provide full to partial wage replacement for workers taking leave, including parental leave to bond with a new child, family leave to care for a sick child or loved one, and medical leave to address a caregiver's own serious medical condition.

While these programs serve people with a range of health and caregiving needs, families with young children are a primary audience.



The programs geared toward families with young children have different funding mechanisms, administrative structures, and abilities to cover all eligible families. For example, Medicaid reaches nearly all eligible infants, because children whose births are covered by Medicaid are automatically enrolled.⁸ By contrast, TANF only reaches a small share of children with the lowest incomes, due to the many obstacles that families face seeking aid and a historic lack of investment in the program.⁹

Moreover, even though the same families are often eligible for many of these programs, they are operated separately—often through different agencies—with little sharing of information. This means that to access the full set of programs, families must learn about each of the programs and apply for them separately, sometimes needing to travel to different offices, often filling out multiple forms that ask for much of the same information. The federal government has identified the time around the birth of a child as a priority area for improving the "customer experience" when accessing programs that can support families to thrive. As one mother who was interviewed by the federal "customer experience" team explained, "I wish I had [support] when I was pregnant, in order to understand what all the programs mean. I still don't know all the things that are available to me." ¹⁰

The federal government defines "administrative burden" as the challenges people have in finding out about programs they might be eligible for, learning about their rules, applying for them, and meeting all the requirements to maintain benefits. Families who are already systemically marginalized in other ways face a particularly heavy burden. These families include those who:

- have children with disabilities;
- have limited literacy or English proficiency;
- lack access to reliable internet service or computers;
- do not have cars or public transportation; and
- work in multiple jobs.

Due to structural racism and systemic inequities in our economy and society, Black, Indigenous, and Latinx families are more likely to be harmed by administrative burden. For example, people of color face systemic racism in areas like education and employment that makes them more likely to work in jobs with low wages and without employer-provided health coverage, ¹³ which can make them need public benefits. These same job characteristics may create higher administrative burdens, such as the extra documentation required of those working jobs with irregular hours or in the gig economy. ¹⁴ Integrating multiple programs that serve families with infants and toddlers, and making it easier for parents to access the full range of services that they are eligible for, is critical to ensuring that these programs deliver the promised benefits.

Current Program Coordination

CLASP conducted over two dozen interviews with state program administrators, community and policy advocates, and parents in California, Washington state, and Washington, D.C., all three of which are jurisdictions with state- and city-level paid family and medical leave programs. These jurisdictions have also used their flexibility under SNAP and Medicaid to cover people with higher income levels (see Appendix for more information), meaning that more families are likely to be eligible for multiple programs than in places with more restrictive eligibility rules. Through these interviews we found little coordination across programs that may benefit families of infants and toddlers in California, Washington state, and Washington, D.C. While these three jurisdictions are in many ways leading the country in providing health



care access, income and work supports, child care assistance, and employment protections to workers and families, they offer minimal alignment across programs.

In CLASP's interviews, parents of young children expressed frustration in accessing many of the public benefit programs. They reported finding applications to be inaccessible, complicated, and cumbersome. Agency staff, parents, and advocates were unaware of any cross-program coordination. While those we interviewed understood that Medicaid, TANF, SNAP, WIC, and child care could be better coordinated, most understandably had not thought about coordinating these programs with paid family and medical leave. Once we explained why we thought the programs could potentially coordinate or collaborate, most people seemed to agree that this could be valuable, even if they expressed skepticism about the mechanisms.

CLASP's research found minimal levels of coordination—including online application hubs and informal referrals—across child care assistance programs, Medicaid, SNAP, TANF, and WIC. The most coordination was between Medicaid and WIC when a state allowed for direct certification (enrollment) in WIC if someone was enrolled in Medicaid. Beyond this, coordination among programs was simply referral based, meaning agency staff could refer families to other programs for which they may be eligible, but not help them enroll.

All three jurisdictions have created integrated online applications that allow individuals to learn more about multiple service programs, assess their eligibility, and apply to receive benefits. For example, the state of Washington operates a website—Washington Connection—with information about state benefit programs on which individuals are asked a series of questions to determine what services they may qualify for and are then notified about their eligibility. Some program applications are available on the website, including for SNAP, TANF, and child care assistance, while the site only provides detailed information and links about other programs such as the state's Medicaid program. Agency officials describe it as very clunky and not user friendly.

California created an integrated online application known as BenefitsCal where individuals can learn more about Medicaid, SNAP, and TANF; answer questions to determine eligibility; and apply for services. Similarly, individuals in Washington, D.C. can also apply for Medicaid, SNAP, and TANF using a single application.

In July, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' Administration for Children and Families released a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking focused on improving child care access, affordability, and stability. The proposed rule "encourages states to use a family's enrollment in other public benefits program or documents or verification used for other benefit programs to verify eligibility for CCDF and "...requires states to implement eligibility policies and procedures that minimize disruptions to parent employment, education, or training opportunities and encourages online applications." When this paper was published in December 2023, the final rule was not yet out.

Washington state has an active interagency working group employing a human-centered design approach to integrate Medicaid, TANF, SNAP, and child care assistance. The group hopes to create a single application that includes one eligibility determination and enrollment system where individuals can access multiple programs. California is also working on a central eligibility hub where families can access information on multiple services and apply for benefits. While PFML is not currently part of the Washington state interagency working group, state officials in agencies that are part of the working group process hope that it will be included in the next iteration of integration.



Challenges to Program Coordination

Differences in program eligibility

Although all the programs discussed in this paper are designed to help families with children, especially around the birth of a child, they differ in their purpose, design, and target populations.

PFML is a core employment protection, providing working people with paid time away from work to take care of their families and their own health without losing their job or paycheck. PFML, which is based on work history and earned income, is administered at the state level and funded through a combination of employee and employer payroll tax contributions, similar to Social Security. In states with a program, PFML reaches most workers across income levels, while workers paid low wages often receive a higher percentage of their wages during periods of leave. Individuals without recent work history are generally not eligible for PFML benefits.¹⁷

On the other hand, Medicaid, TANF, SNAP, and WIC are critical safety net programs, ensuring individuals can meet core human needs. Because these programs are means tested, families must have income below specified eligibility thresholds, and some programs also have asset limits.

Generally, child care assistance is designed so individuals engaged in education or work can gain access to child care, while eligibility is also based on income. To further complicate the eligibility structures, child care is a federal-to-state program in which eligibility is determined at the state level within the confines of the federal parameters. Therefore, eligibility for the program is different for each state.

PFML programs use different information to determine eligibility. Typically, jurisdictions look at applicants' earnings and work history going back roughly a year and do not consider unearned income, assets, or other family members' employment. By contrast, for people to qualify for the programs other than PFML, their current income must be below a certain amount, and some programs need to know about all sources of household or family income. (To make things even more complicated, each of the other programs may use a slightly different definition of household/family and count income differently.)

Different state agencies

The programs for families with infants and toddlers are also housed in different agencies. At the state level, PFML programs are housed in employment benefits agencies. TANF, SNAP, child care, and Medicaid are located in one or more state social service agencies. Even though both SNAP and WIC provide nutrition assistance, WIC is housed in public health agencies and SNAP programs are generally run by social services agencies. Child care assistance is located in social service and/or education agencies. In some states, WIC and child care have been integrated into the same application portals as SNAP, TANF, and Medicaid, but this was not the case in any of the states we interviewed.¹⁸

Both TANF and WIC generally require parents to attend in-person meetings as part of the application and renewal processes, while the other programs can generally be applied for through fully online or phone processes. This means that people applying for multiple programs must go to multiple websites or offices and enter much of the same information over and over again. If applicants have questions, a call center operator or caseworker is highly unlikely to be able to answer questions about programs run by other agencies.



Agency personnel interviewed noted little communication across different agencies, making collaboration challenging. Agencies administering PFML programs and the social and human service agencies have not historically collaborated. Interviewees also noted that implementing a new PFML program is an incredible amount of work and that implementation timelines often did not allow for extra coordination with other agencies. One person interviewed said that, despite their state's original intent for social service agencies to be at the table during the design and implementation of a PFML program, inevitable challenges that arise during implementation of a new program prohibited that from happening. Another obstacle to greater interagency communication that interviewees raised was data sharing and privacy concerns, including uncertainty about what is permitted by the federal agencies involved.

It is worth noting that social service programs often use income data from agencies administering paid family and medical leave programs. State income tax or quarterly wage data from employment benefits agencies are routinely used to verify income for social service programs. However, interviewees made it clear that such data sharing is one-way (from employment benefits agencies to social service agencies and not vice versa). Exploring how to make the data sharing bi-directional could hold promise for connecting more eligible families with PFML when those families are already connected to social services.

Different approaches to program design

Through CLASP's collective research on these programs, it seems that policymakers, agency staff, and advocates approach PFML and social service programs from very different viewpoints. Paid family and medical leave programs are social insurance programs (like Social Security or unemployment insurance) that participants have earned through their previous work and are viewed as such. By contrast, Medicaid and SNAP are more likely to be perceived as "welfare," a term that is deeply racially coded. ¹⁹ The term is part of a style of euphemisms known as "dog-whistle politics," which, as lan Haney Lopez describes, are "coded racial appeals that carefully manipulate hostility toward nonwhites." ²⁰

This dichotomy in approaches is reflected in program design, which has implications for coordination or collaboration. Social service programs have significant administrative burdens people must navigate to find out if they are eligible, to complete the application, and to stay enrolled in when up for renewal. Interviewees noted that the level of administrative burden in paid family and medical leave programs is much lower, and that the burden falls primarily on employers and state agencies rather than applicants. One example cited was that when a paid leave program needs more information about an applicant's income, the state reaches out directly to the employer. Coordination between the state agency and employer may not always be perfect, and sometimes an employee must still submit correct documents when the employer fails to do so. However, the general idea that the state will first try to verify information without needing the applicant to take action is vastly different from social service programs where applicants generally bear the burden of proving their eligibility.

The different ideological approaches to the programs pose challenges for coordination or collaboration. As we heard in interviews, administrators for social service programs were not typically included in discussions about implementing PFML programs and vice versa. The underlying belief may be that paid family and medical leave programs are serving different families than those served by social service programs. However, many families with young children may need both social service programs and paid leave programs.



Strategies and Solutions for Building an Integrated System for Families with Young Children

Despite the real barriers to program integration, policymakers and program administrators have an opportunity to better align public programs for families of infants and toddlers to improve access and make the experience much smoother. This section discusses ways states can enhance the customer experience within their existing and newly created programs to increase program uptake and improve outcomes for infants, toddlers, and their families. We begin by discussing three underlying shifts that are needed to create the foundations for effective coordination. We then turn to a menu of approaches that states can take—from automatic enrollment to case management—to remove from families the burden of learning about different programs that they may be eligible for and applying for each of them separately.

Underlying Shifts Needed for Better Program Collaboration

1. Set an Explicit Goal of Improving the Customer Experience Across Programs and Center Those Who Are Most Impacted Throughout the Entire Process

In our interviews, it became clear that many people were interested in improving access to individual programs and the process of applying to them. Yet policymakers and program administrators rarely thought of them as a package or critically considered the process of applying to all of the programs. Setting an explicit goal of improving the customer experience across programs—and creating spaces where people across agencies regularly meet and discuss their progress—is an important first step.

To improve the customer experience, it is critical to center parents and families in the process. This should incorporate both traditional customer experience research and advisory groups that give institutional power to those who are impacted by programs, which includes parents with low incomes, parents of color, immigrant parents, and parents in rural communities.

The state of Washington already has a Poverty Reduction Working Group with a Steering Committee composed of individuals with direct experience of poverty. The 10-year plan produced by this working group includes recommendations to expand access to and reduce the burden of applying to benefit programs, including by improving coordination across programs.²¹

2. Bolster Agency Capacity

Many state agencies are operating with limited capacity. States will be unable to create aligned and integrated program systems if they are struggling to effectively deliver benefits under the separate programs. Although the private sector has largely rebounded from the COVID-19 recession, public-sector employment remains challenged by the impacts and by historically limited resources. State and local government employment is still below pre-pandemic levels, as state agencies and local governments have struggled to fill vacancies.²²

The public sector never fully recovered from the Great Recession of 2008–09,²³ and a return to the prepandemic status quo is not sufficient, as state agencies need to rebuild capacity to administer programs. Even before the pandemic, many state agencies struggled to fill and maintain staff capacity to fully execute programs in the most meaningful way possible, and the pandemic certainly exacerbated this. Many state agencies could benefit from additional staff to process applications more efficiently and quickly, to lessen



workloads and maintain job quality, and to streamline systems.

At the onset of the pandemic, with increases in the need for support and temporary eligibility expansions, nearly all states struggled to keep up with the sharp rise in applications across programs. The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) provided funding to support state capacity to administer benefits. This included \$1.14 billion for additional SNAP administrative funding over three years (through early 2024). While some of this was used to pay for immediate staffing needs, states also made longer-term investments in technology and improving the customer experience. ARPA also included the State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (SLFRF) to help bolster state agency employment, including building capacity of benefit agencies. Some states still have unused SLFRF dollars and could utilize these funds to bolster capacity. Funds must be obligated by the end of 2024 and spent by the end of 2026.

3. Support Data Sharing Across State Agencies

In CLASP's interviews, several parents spoke to the administrative burdens on families seeking supports. Multiple parents surfaced the difficulty in securing the proper documentation, the need to provide the same documents for multiple programs, and the overwhelming amount of paperwork involved in securing benefits. Data sharing across agencies would help streamline application processes, identify individuals who are eligible for multiple programs, and ease current cumbersome processes to update the data of program participants.

Relevant agencies could create policies and sign cross-agency memorandums of understanding that allow data to be shared across agencies and sub agencies for the sole purpose of ensuring parents and families can access all the programs for which they are eligible. Agencies often already have data sharing agreements between social service programs and from labor and employment agencies to social service agencies (used to verify income). Agency administrators stated that they lacked federal guidance on what data from social service programs could be shared with labor and employment programs, and for what purposes.

Any data sharing agreements must be accompanied by protocols to protect personal data. Data collection and sharing must adhere to all Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and additional legal requirements. Guardrails must be in place to ensure that personal data is only used for program outreach and eligibility purposes and not purposely or inadvertently shared with immigration or law enforcement agencies. Because of its sensitivity, health information should only be shared with the client's explicit consent. For example, a person taking family and medical leave may not wish to share the reason for the leave with any other agency. However, with permission, sharing of health information could reduce administrative burden; for example, if a WIC agency could waive the "health assessment" based on data from Medicaid, this could eliminate the need for an in-person appointment.

From a technical point of view, data sharing is much easier when it is designed into systems from the beginning. Different systems may not use the same fields to capture the same information.²⁷ As states replace or update their data systems for individual benefit programs, they should prioritize adding capacity for data sharing across programs. This should include building in the capacity for tracking consent to share data and creating robust role-based access controls so that only people who are authorized to see specific data elements have access to it.



Approaches to Shift Burden Away From Families

1. Automatic Enrollment

The gold standard for program integration is when an agency can use information it already has to automatically enroll people in another program, without their having to learn about the program or apply. For example, all children whose births are paid for by Medicaid are automatically enrolled in Medicaid with no application required.²⁸ Under a policy known as "direct certification," states are required to match SNAP data against school records to automatically enroll children receiving SNAP in the National School Lunch Program.²⁹ Other examples of automatic enrollment include the stimulus payments and enhanced Child Tax Credit during the COVID pandemic, which most people received automatically without an application.³⁰

Automatic enrollment requires three things to happen:

- 1. A state agency must have all the information needed to determine eligibility;
- 2. If the agency administering the program is not the one that has the data, the agencies must be able to match data; and
- 3. Agencies must have the authorization to share data and to provide benefits without an application.

When Louisiana used "express lane eligibility," which is a type of automatic enrollment, to deem millions of children receiving SNAP as eligible for Medicaid, they mailed Medicaid eligibility cards to their homes. The cards were accompanied by a notice telling caregivers that use of the cards would be considered an affirmative statement of a desire for the children to be enrolled.³¹

Exploring additional opportunities for automatic enrollment for families with young children would help parents navigate all the supports available during the critical newborn and infancy period of development. When the idea of automatic enrollment for families with young children was posed to state administrators, they were intrigued and recognized the value for families. Administrators' hesitations were generally technical— whether the systems could share data in an accurate way and whether the data sharing would be allowed. If programs were designed with automatic enrollment as the expectation, these concerns could be addressed statutorily.

More broadly, policymakers could look for other opportunities to leverage the information that a family has added a baby by automatically enrolling them in other benefits. For example, a state might experiment with providing a cash benefit to all families with infants, regardless of their previous work history. Agencies could coordinate behind the scenes to determine whether the parents qualified for PFML. If the parents did not qualify for PFML, the state could use TANF or state general revenues to cover the payments. A state might seek a waiver to automatically enroll babies in WIC if their families are receiving other means-tested benefits and they authorize their doctor to share health information showing they meet the required "nutrition risk" criteria.



2. Deemed Eligibility Based on Another Program

Even if programs targeted at the same populations do not have exactly the same eligibility criteria or definitions of income, policymakers may decide to allow people to be "deemed eligible" for one program based on having been found eligible for another, without a separate eligibility determination. This approach is called "deemed eligibility," "categorical eligibility," "adjunctive eligibility," or "express lane eligibility," in different programs. Such a policy decreases hassles on families and keeps applicants from having to provide the same information and paperwork to multiple agencies and programs. Eliminating a duplicative process can also ease the verification burden on state and local administrators.³² In addition, deemed eligibility can simplify outreach by allowing a clear message that "if you receive X, you qualify for Y."

Deemed eligibility as an approach to enrollment is increasingly common among means-tested programs. For instance, children are categorically eligible for the National School Lunch Program if they receive SNAP, TANF, Food Distribution Program on Indian Reservations (FDPIR), or Medicaid (in some states), or if they are homeless, migrant, or in foster care or Head Start. If children are not automatically enrolled in school meals, their family only needs to provide a case number for the other program on the application for free or reduced price meals.

Deemed eligibility is used in several programs for young children. Applicants who already receive SNAP, Medicaid, or TANF cash assistance are automatically considered income-eligible for WIC, although they still need to meet the nutrition risk criteria. Families receiving public assistance (as defined in the next sentence) are categorically eligible for Head Start services, although this does not guarantee them a slot. For this purpose, receipt of TANF and Supplemental Security Income (SSI) have long been counted; in 2022, the Office of Head Start added SNAP, noting that "SNAP households with young children have an equivalent level of need to families currently receiving Head Start services."³³

States might explore additional ways to leverage deemed eligibility. For example, policymakers might consider the benefits of automatically providing a minimum SNAP benefit to families with a young child covered by Medicaid and allowing them to decide whether the hassles of providing more detailed information justify the increased benefit.³⁴ Or states might use receipt of other benefits as sufficient basis to create "presumptive eligibility" for child care, which allows families to start receiving subsidies right away while they collect the other information required for a full application.

3. Create a Common Online Entry Point for Programs for Families with Infants and Toddlers

Even when programs have different rules and requirements, they can share an integrated online portal that removes the need to provide the same information multiple times. Five states now offer single, integrated applications for Medicaid, SNAP, TANF, WIC, and child care assistance.³⁵ Most states do not have that level of integration. California and D.C. currently allow families to apply for SNAP, Medicaid, and TANF through an integrated application, but not child care or WIC. Washington state has an integrated application for SNAP, TANF, and child care, while Medicaid has a separate online application.³⁶

States should build upon their current integrated applications and add additional programs and resources. At a minimum, one site should include information about all the programs that serve families with young children, including basic eligibility requirements, Frequently Asked Questions, instructions on how to apply, and links to program-specific sites or applications. All portals and websites should be tested to be user-friendly, accessible on mobile devices, and translated into the multiple languages used in the state.



To develop a comprehensive integrated application, states can conduct a crosswalk of all programs available to families and identify key pieces of information that are common across programs. Common data can be used to screen for eligibility in other programs and transferred to applications to avoid repeatedly collecting the information. Clients who apply for one program can be informed of other programs they are likely to be eligible for and what additional information they would need to apply.

States could also create cross-program call centers where agents can help identify programs that families may be able to access. For example, Connecticut's Paid Leave Authority contracts with United Way to be the first point of communication with workers calling with questions about the state's paid family and medical leave program. United Way is able to triage calls and direct individuals to the paid leave authority, as well as to other agencies that administer programs and services they may need.

4. Strengthen Cross-Agency Referrals and Outreach

Cross-agency referrals or "inreach" are a key way to increase knowledge of and access to programs that serve overlapping populations. The simplest version of this is posters and brochures in waiting rooms, links on websites, and messages during holding time on phone systems. A more powerful version is when caseworkers for one program are knowledgeable about other programs and can tell clients what they are likely to be eligible for, instruct them on how to apply, and even make an appointment for them if needed, which is known as a warm referral.

Integrated systems can facilitate such referrals, but even less-sophisticated versions can be very helpful. For example, a person who applied for PFML, but was found ineligible due to insufficient work history, could be eligible for means-tested supports such as SNAP, WIC, TANF, or child care. Including that information with the denial notice could create a pathway to help for a family that the system has already identified is seeking financial support.

For referrals and inreach to be effective, states should invest in cross-agency education and training about different programs for state agency staff. This education could be helpful, given the newness of the paid leave programs and differences in program administration, funding, and structure. Training and guidance about how paid leave interacts with other state administered programs could be especially helpful. Caseworkers do not need to know the answers to questions about other programs by memory, but they should have access to reference documents or websites to help them answer common questions. In deciding whether to give staff this additional responsibility, agencies should examine the size of the caseloads that staff are expected to interact with and the training and compensation that staff receive.

Cross-agency partnerships can also be used for targeted outreach. For example, an increased number of state WIC programs in recent years have worked to strengthen collaboration with Medicaid and SNAP, with many entering into written cross-program agreements to share data for targeted outreach and streamlined enrollment.³⁷ Medicaid offers one of the most promising opportunities for targeted outreach, as over 40 percent of all U.S. births are financed by Medicaid.³⁸ State Medicaid agencies, therefore, already have contact information for a large share of families with newborns and could send them targeted information about PFML, WIC, child care, and other benefits by mail, text, or other means.

States could also make more effective use of the funds invested in awareness, outreach, and enrollment assistance activities by sharing information on multiple programs at once. Health and nutrition programs, including Medicaid, CHIP, and SNAP, each have earmarked funding for outreach and enrollment assistance.



And WIC and child care assistance programs have funding available but do not have dedicated outreach dollars.³⁹ Paid family and medical leave programs vary in their outreach budgets by state. For example, the Universal Paid Leave Act in Washington, D.C. allows up to 6 percent of the money appropriated annually to be used for public education.⁴⁰

However, many of these funds are limited to specific programs, meaning that a SNAP outreach grant cannot be used to help someone apply for Medicaid or PFML. Agencies should look for opportunities to blend or braid funds or use flexible funds, such as those from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (SLFRF),⁴¹ to support cross-agency outreach and enrollment grants. These grants allow state agencies and community-based organizations to focus on multiple programs during their outreach. This is particularly important for harder-to-reach populations, including communities of color, rural areas, and communities with low incomes, where the initial contact and trust-building takes significant effort.

5. Invest in Multiple Modes of Case Management for Targeted Populations

Case Management in Health Care Settings

In some hospitals and other clinical settings, social workers work closely with patients and families, as well as assess patients' physical, emotional, social, and economic situations. They may help identify post-release needs and potential barriers to health, including inadequate access to nutrition. If patients face barriers to nutrition, case managers may inform families about SNAP and WIC. Generally, they do not ask about barriers to attending work or school, such as needing child care to attend work/school or paid leave for medical or caregiving reasons. If they do not already have dedicated case managers, hospitals and clinics could consider adding them to inform families of infants and toddlers about the whole suite of programs they may be eligible for— child care assistance, paid family and medical leave, TANF, SNAP, WIC, and Medicaid.

One Washington state caregiver CLASP spoke with informed us that she learned about the state's paid family and medical program from a social worker when her father was in the hospital. The social worker had shared the information to explain that her father could apply for paid medical leave to recover from his injury and that she and her sister could apply for paid family leave to care for him during his recovery. The social worker informed them about eligibility criteria and helped guide them through the application process.

Community-Centered Case Management - Family Navigators

In addition to working in health care settings, case managers can be present in schools, community centers, worker centers, labor unions, and agency offices to help families. States can create "Family Navigators" to assist eligible families with infants and children identify and apply for programs. Such services are typically targeted to communities with high poverty rates or families that are otherwise identified as needing additional support.

Agencies can develop partnerships with nonprofits and community-based organizations to provide case management and conduct education and outreach about public programs and services. For example, the Washington State Department of Health contracts with Help Me Grow, a non-profit that helps families navigate public programs and services. Help Me Grow works closely with WIC and has access to its system



to help families fill out applications. Expanding these partnerships and resourcing community partners to help families learn about and apply for varied programs can help them access needed services.

A version of this concept is being piloted by the federal government as part of its customer experience project under the name "Benefits Bundle." In approximately five communities nationwide, current HHS Healthy Start grantees will be funded to provide families with a new baby "a bundle of supportive services through personal case management that is convenient, customized for language, and appropriately tailored to specific communities." This project is designed to demonstrate the proof of concept and create a playbook for replication.

Case managers play a critical role, particularly if they understand the specific needs of families in the targeted communities, including families with low incomes, families of color, immigrant families, and rural families. For example, immigrant families are often wary of public systems. State agencies we spoke with report that the Trump-era Public Charge rule has had a persistent chilling effect on enrollment across programs, because people fear negative consequences as a result of utilizing—or even applying for—a public program. Case managers must understand this and be able to share accurate information to help alleviate concerns. Understandably, families who distrust government programs may be more likely to trust information from case managers who are from the same communities as them.

Conclusion

The prenatal-to-three developmental period is a critical phase for infants, children, parents, caregivers, and families. It is a foundational moment for physical and mental health and well-being, with impacts that last until adulthood. At the same time, it is one of the most challenging periods for many families, with many parents pulled between meeting their families' financial and caregiving needs. Parents with young children are often starting out in their careers and unlikely to have savings to fall back upon.

State-administered programs that can help parents foster the nurturing environments infants and toddlers need are vital to increasing health and economic outcomes, and reducing longstanding racial and socioeconomic disparities. Many human service and child care programs are too difficult to access for families with low incomes and families of color. State agencies can work together to better align and streamline program enrollment to meet the needs of families and improve outcomes for our children.

Beyond the recommendations in this report, we urge a more holistic vision for children and families. All young children need time to bond with their parents or caretakers and access to affordable health care, healthy food, stable housing, and quality child care when parents are working or at school. And parents should not need to spend their limited time and energy navigating a bureaucratic maze to get help, or be forced to make the impossible choice between their paycheck or caring for their family. As we make improvements toward this vision—whether incremental steps or great leaps—we should keep the end point in mind and ensure that we are not creating new burdens or obstacles.



Appendix

Methodology

To help inform this paper, CLASP engaged in a series of interviews. with the following state agencies: in California with the California Employment Development Department, San Francisco Department of Public Health, and California Department of Social Services; in Washington state with the Washington State Department of Children, Youth, and Families, Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, Washington State Employment Security Department, Washington State Health Care Authority, and Washington State Department of Health; and in Washington, D.C. with the District of Columbia Department of Employment Services and Office of the State Superintendent of Education.

CLASP also conducted interviews with the following advocacy organizations: in California with Legal Aid at Work, California Work and Family Institute, Child Care Law Center, and Parent Voices; in Washington state with Help Me Grow and Economic Opportunities Center; and in Washington, D.C. with First Shift Justice Project and D.C. Action for Children.

And finally, CLASP spoke with seven parents across the state and metropolitan areas who generously shared their experience navigating programs.

Overview of Policies Impacting the Prenatal-to-Three Population

Paid Family and Medical Leave

The United States does not guarantee paid family and medical leave to working people. Only 27 percent of U.S. workers have access to paid family leave through their employers,⁴⁴ and just 41 percent have access to paid medical leave through employer-provided short-term disability insurance.⁴⁵ Fourteen states have passed laws that enable most workers to continue to earn a portion of their pay while they take time away from work to address a worker's own serious health condition; bond with a new child; care for a family member with a serious health condition; and address military family needs arising from a service member's deployment.



State Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs				
	Eligibility	Duration of Benefits	Benefit Amount	Funding Mechanism
California ⁴⁶	Workers must have earned at least \$300 during the base period—the first 4 of the 5 most recently completed quarters or may include earlier quarters if the worker was unemployed during part of the base period. These quarters can combine income from more than one employer.	Medical leave: up to 52 weeks for any period of disability. Family leave: up to 8 weeks in a 12-month period.	60 - 70% of a worker's average weekly wage, depending on income. ⁴⁷ Maximum benefit is roughly equal to the statewide average weekly wage—currently \$1,620/week.	Workers cover the full cost, currently set at 0.9 percent of wages.
Washington State ⁴⁸	Workers must have worked at least 820 hours in the qualifying period. The qualifying period refers to the first 4 of the 5 most recently completed quarters or the 4 most recent completed quarters. These quarters can combine hours worked at more than one employer.	Medical leave: Up to 12 weeks in a year. Family leave: Up to 12 weeks in a year. ⁴⁹	90% of a worker's average weekly wage up to an amount equal to 1) 50% of the statewide average weekly wage plus 2) 50% of a worker's average weekly wage that is above an amount equal to 50% of the statewide average weekly wage. Maximum benefit is 90% of statewide average weekly wage—currently \$1,327/week.	Medical leave: Workers and employers share the cost; currently, the total premium for medical leave is about 0.4% of wages. ⁵⁰ Family leave: Workers cover the full cost; currently, the premium is about 0.4% of wages. ⁵¹



State Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs				
	Eligibility	Duration of Benefits	Benefit Amount	Funding Mechanism
Washington, D.C. ⁵²	Workers must have been employed during at least some of the 52 weeks preceding the event that precipitated the need for leave. Workers with less than 1 year work history may receive a prorated benefit amount.	Medical leave: Up to 12 weeks in a year. Family leave: Up to 12 weeks in a year. ⁵³	90% of a worker's average weekly wage up to an amount equal to 1) 40 times 150% of the D.C. minimum wage and 2) 50% of a worker's average weekly wage above an amount equal to 40 times 150% of the D.C. minimum wage. Maximum benefit is currently \$1,009/week, adjusted annually based on inflation.	Employers cover the full cost—currently set at 0.26% of wages.

Child Care Assistance

The Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF) program is the primary source of federal funding to states to provide child care assistance for families with low incomes and improve the overall quality of child care.⁵⁴ The CCDF is a block grant to states, territories, and tribes that funds their child care subsidy systems, in addition to these entities' own state, local, and tribal/territory funds. States must spend 70 percent of federal funds directly on providing services to children, but otherwise have great flexibility to determine the policies that influence who can participate and what their program looks like. Under current law, states can allow families with incomes up to 85 percent of state median income (SMI) to access child care assistance. However, due to inadequate funding, many states set their initial income eligibility far below that threshold.

Because of a lack of investment in child care, CCDF and other smaller child care assistance funding sources, such as TANF and the federal Social Services Block Grant, collectively only reached 1 in 6 eligible children.⁵⁵ Many families remain on waiting lists—if a state even maintains a waiting list—and cannot access the subsidy even if they fall within the eligibility parameters, while other families with low and moderate incomes cannot qualify for child care assistance due to restrictive income limits.⁵⁶ To be eligible in most states, parents must be engaged in work, educational activities, or searching for work.



Child Care Assistance Income Limits by State ⁵⁷			
	Eligibility criteria	Income limit for a family of three	Eligible activities
California	85% SMI ⁵⁸	\$82,104 ⁵⁹	Participating in the CalWORKS cash assistance program; Receiving certain government benefits and be working: - Searching for work or a home, - Going to school or taking work training, or Being unable to care for a child because of physical or mental health conditions ⁶⁰
Washington State	60% SMI ⁶¹	\$56,604 ⁶²	Being employed; Engaging in activities approved under parents' WorkFirst or Basic Food Employment and Training (BFET) plan; Being enrolled in approved education activities ⁶³
Washington, D.C.	300% of FPL. ⁶⁴	\$74,580 ⁶⁵	Working or attending a job training or education program; Seeking employment or engaging in job search; or Receiving, or needing to receive, protective services or having a child considered vulnerable ⁶⁶

Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)

Medicaid is a public insurance program that provides health coverage to individuals and families with low incomes, including pregnant people, children, parents, seniors, and people with disabilities. It is funded jointly by the federal government and states. Since Medicaid is an entitlement program, anyone who meets federal eligibility rules has a right to enroll in coverage. ⁶⁷ To receive federal funding, states must cover these mandatory populations:

- People who are pregnant and have income below 138 percent of the federal poverty line (FPL), which is \$34,307 in the 48 continuous states for a family of three in 2023;⁶⁸
- Children in families with income below 138 percent of the FPL;⁶⁹
- Certain parents or caretakers with very low income;⁷⁰ and
- Most seniors and people with disabilities who receive SSI.⁷¹

Each state operates its own Medicaid program within federal guidelines and eligibility, and benefits can vary across states. States can also receive federal funding to cover additional "optional" populations.⁷² Forty-one states, including D.C., have adopted the Medicaid expansion option under the Affordable Care Act to cover nearly all adults up to 138 percent of the FPL.⁷³ The program also provides an option to cover postpartum women for 12 months, and most states have implemented this option or are planning to do



so.⁷⁴ Some states, such as the three explored in this paper, choose to cover additional populations with state-only dollars.

States also provide health insurance through the federal Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). This provides access to health insurance for kids in families with incomes higher than the Medicaid limit, and some states use an option to provide health insurance to pregnant persons who are above the Medicaid income eligibility limit.⁷⁵

Medicaid and CHIP Income Eligibility Guidelines for Pregnant People and Young Children by State			
	California	Washington State	Washington, D.C.
Income limit for pregnant persons ⁷⁶	Up to 213% FPL through Medicaid; 214-322% FPL through CHIP	198% FPL ⁷⁷	324% FPL
Income limit for children birth to 1	Up to 208% FPL through Medicaid; 209-266% FPL through CHIP	215% FPL	324% FPL
Income limits for children 1-5	Up to 142% FPL through Medicaid; 143-266% FPL through CHIP	215% FPL ⁷⁸	324% FPL
All income-eligible children covered, regardless of immigration status	<u>></u>	∨	✓

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)

The federal government provides TANF funds as fixed block grants to states, which use these funds to operate their own programs. According to federal statute, the funding is "designed to help low-income families with children achieve economic self-sufficiency." States can use TANF to fund monthly cash assistance payments to families with low incomes who have children and can also use TANF to fund other programs. Takes have broad discretion to determine eligibility, and most states have eligibility thresholds far below the FPL. In each state, families must complete applications and meet work rules to access and maintain TANF, unless they receive an exemption. Takes benefits are relatively small, with a median monthly payment of \$492 to a family of three in July 2022.



TANF Eligibility for a Family of Three, October 2023			
	California	Washington State	Washington, D.C.
Maximum Monthly Income to Qualify for TANF ⁸²	\$1,753 ⁸³	\$1,30884	\$751 ⁸⁵
Asset Limit for TANF Applicants	\$10,888 ⁸⁶	\$6,000 ⁸⁷	\$2,250 ⁸⁸
Eligibility for Pregnant Parents with No Other Children in Household	Yes ⁸⁹	Yes ⁹⁰	Yes ⁹¹
Maximum Monthly TANF Benefit Amount	\$1,171 ⁹²	\$654 ⁹³	\$751 ⁹⁴

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)

SNAP is a federal anti-hunger program that provides nutrition benefits to individuals and households with low incomes. The federal government fully funds the cost of SNAP benefits but splits the cost of administering the program with the states. Eligibility rules and benefit levels are fairly uniform across states. Households must generally meet three criteria to qualify for benefits under federal rules (states have the flexibility to adjust these limits):

- Gross monthly income must be at or below 130 percent of the FPL, or \$2,694/month for a three-person household in fiscal year 2024 (FY24). Households with a member who is age 60 or older or has a disability do not need to meet this limit.⁹⁶
- Net monthly income must be less than or equal to the FPL, or \$2,072/month for a three-person household in FY24.⁹⁷
- Assets must fall below certain limits. In FY 24, households can have up to \$2,750 in assets, or up to \$4,250 in assets if a member of the household is disabled.⁹⁸

If all members of a household are receiving a benefit under TANF, SSI, or in some cases other general assistance, the household may be deemed "categorically eligible" for SNAP because they have already been determined eligible for another means-tested program. They still must meet other SNAP rules, but states can use this policy to lift gross income limits and asset limits.⁹⁹



In FY 2024, the maximum monthly allotment for a family of 4 in the 48 continental states and D.C. is \$973.¹⁰⁰

SNAP Gross Income Limits by State*, FY 23 for a family of three			
California	\$32,318/year ¹⁰¹		
Washington State	\$49,720/year ¹⁰²		
Washington, D.C.	\$49,720/year ¹⁰³		

^{*}There are no asset limits in any of these states

Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC)

WIC provides nutritious foods, nutrition education, breastfeeding support, and referrals to health care and social services for pregnant and postpartum women, infants, and children through their 5th birthday. States must set income limits of no less than 100 percent of the FPL and no more than 185 percent of the FPL.¹⁰⁴ For reference, 185 percent of FPL is \$45,991 for a family of three in 2023.¹⁰⁵

To simplify program administration, an applicant who is eligible to receive SNAP, Medicaid, or TANF cash assistance is automatically considered income-eligible for WIC.¹⁰⁶ Applicants must also be determined to be at nutritional risk.¹⁰⁷ WIC is not an entitlement program; it is appropriated annually with a reserve fund. However, at the time of our research, WIC programs were funded at a level such that they were able to serve all who applied.¹⁰⁸

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank their CLASP colleagues for their thoughtful input, feedback, and review of this paper: Suzanne Wikle, Stephanie Schmidt, Tom Salyers, Lorena Roque, Alyssa Fortner, Lulit Shewan, Juliana Zhou, Jesse Fairbanks, Ashley Burnside, Emily Andrews, Teon Dolby, and Parker Gilkesson Davis. The authors would also like to thank Sivan Sherriffe for the design of this paper.



Endnotes

- ¹ Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, *InBrief: The Science of Early Childhood Development*, Oct. 2020, https://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/inbrief-science-of-ecd/.
- ² Stephanie Schmit and Elizabeth Lower-Basch, *TANF and the First Year of Life: Making a Difference at a Pivotal Moment*, CLASP, Oct. 2022, https://www.clasp.org/publications/report/brief/tanf-and-first-year-life-making-difference-pivotal-moment/; Caroline Ratcliffe and Signe-Mary McKernan, Child Poverty and Its Lasting Consequence, The Urban Institute, Sept. 2012,

https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/32756/412659-Child-Poverty-and-Its-Lasting-Consequence.PDF; Lawrence Aber, Pamela Morris, and Cybele Raver, "Children, Families, and Poverty: Definitions, Trends, Emerging Science and Implications for Policy," *Social policy report*, *26*(3), p1–29, https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2379-3988.2012.tb00072.x.

³ Olugbenga Ajilore, *The Persistent Black-White Unemployment Gap Is Built Into the Labor Market,* Center for American Progress, Sept. 2020,

https://www.americanprogress.org/article/persistent-black-white-unemployment-gap-built-labor-market/.

- ⁴ The National Diaper Bank Network estimates that diapers alone cost \$70-\$80 per month. National Diaper Network, 2020, https://nationaldiaperbanknetwork.org/wp-
- content/uploads/2022/02/NDBN_DiaperNeed_Overview_February_2020.docx.pdf.
- ⁵ Richard Johnson, Karen Smit, and Barbara Butrica, Lifetime Employment-Related Costs to Women of Providing Family Care, Urban Institute, Feb. 2023, https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/WB/Mothers-Families-Work/Lifetime-caregiving-costs_508.pdf.
- ⁶ CLASP analysis of 2022 Current Population Survey Annual Social and Economic Supplement microdata, accessed via IPUMS CPS: Version 11.0 [dataset]. Minneapolis, MN: IPUMS, 2023. https://doi.org/10.18128/D030.V11.0.
- ⁷ Alma Carten, *How racism has shaped welfare policy in America since 1935*, The Conversation, Aug. 2016, https://theconversation.com/how-racism-has-shaped-welfare-policy-in-america-since-1935-6357; Rebecca Ullrich, Katie Hamm, and Rachel Herzfeldt-Kamprath, *Underpaid and Unequal Racial Wage Disparities in the Early Childhood Workforce*, Center for American Progress, Aug. 2016, https://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2016/08/NSECE-report2.pdf.
- ⁸ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "SHO 09-009," Aug. 2009,
- https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/Federal-Policy-Guidance/downloads/SHO083109b.pdf.
- ⁹ Elizabeth Lower-Basch and Ashley Burnside, TANF 101: Cash Assistance, CLASP, Jul. 2022,

https://www.clasp.org/publications/report/brief/tanf-101-cash-assistance/. and

Elizabeth Lower-Basch and Ashley Burnside, TANF 101: Block Grants, CLASP, Jul. 2022,

https://www.clasp.org/publications/report/brief/tanf-101-block-grant/.

- ¹⁰ Having a Child and Early Childhood, Performance.gov, Nov. 2023, https://www.performance.gov/cx/life-experiences/having-a-child-and-early-childhood-for-low-income-families/.
- 11 Strategies for Reducing Administrative Burden in Public Benefit and Service Programs, Office of Management and Budget, Dec. 2022, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/BurdenReductionStrategies.pdf.
- ¹² Study to Identify Methods to Assess Equity: Report to the President, Office of Management and Budget, July 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/OMB-Report-on-E013985-Implementation_508-Compliant-Secure-v1.1.pdf.
- ¹³ Valerie Wilson and William Darity, Jr., *Understanding black-white disparities in labor market outcomes requires models that account for persistent discrimination and unequal bargaining power,* Economic Policy Institute, Mar. 2022, https://www.epi.org/unequalpower/publications/understanding-black-white-disparities-in-labor-market-outcomes/.
- ¹⁴ Suzanne Wikle, Jennifer Wagner, Farah Erzouki, et al., *States Can Reduce Medicaid's Administrative Burdens to Advance Health and Racial Equity,* Center on Budget and Policy Priorities and CLASP, Jul. 2022, <a href="https://www.clasp.org/publications/report/brief/states-can-reduce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-duce-medicaids-administrative-burdens-to-d
- advance-health-and-racial-equity/.

 15 "Your Link to Services," Washington Connection, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.washingtonconnection.org/home/.
- ¹⁶ NPRM for Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF) Regulations (45 CFR Part 98), The Administration for Children and Families, July 2023, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/outreach-material/nprm-ccdf-regulations-45-cfr-part-98.
- ¹⁷ Workers with less than one year of work history in D.C. can receive prorated benefits.



Self-employed workers, including gig workers who are treated as independent contractors, are generally only eligible for paid family and medical leave if they opt in to paying both the employer and employee portion of contributions. However, opt-in rates for the self-employed are relatively low, likely due to low awareness, as well as high contribution rates in some states. See: Molly Weston Willaimson, *Self-Employed Workers' Access to State Paid Leave Programs in 2023*, Center for American Progress, Aug. 2022,

https://www.americanprogress.org/article/self-employed-workers-access-to-state-paid-leave-programs-in-2023/.

- ¹⁸ "The Code for America Benefits Enrollment Field Guide," Code for America, last accessed Oct. 2023, https://codeforamerica.org/programs/social-safety-net/benefits-enrollment-field-guide/.
- ¹⁹ Jared Bernstein, "After all these years, 'welfare reform' is the same racist dog whistle it always was," The Washington Post, Jan. 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2018/01/08/after-all-these-years-welfare-reform-is-the-same-racist-dog-whistle-it-always-was/.
- ²⁰ Ian Haney Lopez, *Dog Whistle Politics*, Oxford University Press, 2013.
- ²¹ Blueprint for a Just and Equitable Future, Dismantle Poverty in Washington, Jan. 2021, https://dismantlepovertyinwa.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Final10yearPlan.pdf.
- ²² Nina Mast and Daniel Perez, "Historic job growth in 2022 reflects strong but uneven economic recovery," *Economic Policy Institute*, Jan. 2023, https://www.epi.org/blog/historic-job-growth-in-2022-reflects-strong-but-uneven-economic-recovery-state-and-local-lawmakers-should-prioritize-rebuilding-the-public-sector-in-2023/.
- ²³ David Cooper, "Without federal aid, many state and local governments could make the same budget cuts that hampered the last economic recovery," *Economic Policy Institute*, May 2020, https://www.epi.org/blog/without-federal-aid-many-state-and-local-governments-could-make-the-same-budget-cuts-that-hampered-the-last-economic-recovery/.
- ²⁴ Poonam Gupta, Chloe Green, and Elaine Waxman, *Exploring the Role of Equity in SNAP Modernization and Access,* Urban Institute, Aug. 2023, https://www.urban.org/research/publication/exploring-role-equity-snap-modernization-and-access. See also: *Exploring States' SNAP Modernization Projects*, Urban Institute, March 2023, https://www.urban.org/projects/exploring-states-snap-modernization-projects.
- ²⁵ COVID-19 Relief: States' and Localities' Fiscal Recovery Funds Spending as of March 31, 2023, U.S. Government Accountability Office, Oct. 2023, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-24-106753.pdf.
- ²⁶ Dave Kamper, "State and local governments should use ARPA pandemic funds in 2023 to rebuild the public sector and support working families and children," *Economic Policy Institute*, Jan. 2023, https://www.epi.org/blog/state-and-local-governments-should-use-arpa-pandemic-funds-in-2023-to-rebuild-the-public-sector-and-support-working-families-and-children/.
- ²⁷ Interoperability, Administration for Children and Families, Sept. 2018, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/about/interoperability.
- ²⁸ Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, "SHO 09-009," August 31, 2009,
- https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/Federal-Policy-Guidance/downloads/SHO083109b.pdf.
- ²⁹ Direct Certification Improves Low-Income Student Access to School Meals: An Updated Guide to Direct Certification, Food Research & Action Center, Nov. 2018, https://frac.org/wp-content/uploads/direct-cert-improves-low-income-school-meal-access.pdf.
- ³⁰ Internal Revenue Service, "IRS, Treasury announce families of 88 percent of children in the U.S. to automatically receive monthly payment of refundable Child Tax Credit," May 2021, https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/irs-treasury-announce-families-of-88-percent-of-children-in-the-us-to-automatically-receive-monthly-payment-of-refundable-child-tax-credit.
- ³¹ "Louisiana: Streamlining Enrollment with Express Lane Eligibility," *The Commonwealth Fund*, Feb. 2010, https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/louisiana-streamlining-enrollment-express-lane-eligibility.
- ³² Sonal Ambegaokar, Zoë Neuberger, and Dorothy Rosenbaum, *Opportunities to Streamline Enrollment Across Public Benefit Programs*, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Nov. 2017, https://www.cbpp.org/research/poverty-and-inequality/opportunities-to-streamline-enrollment-across-public-benefit.
- ³³ Head Start Categorical Eligibility for Families Eligible for the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program | ECLKC, ECLKC, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, April 2022, https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/policy/im/acf-im-hs-22-03.
- ³⁴ Elizabeth Lower-Basch and Stan Dorn, *Moving to 21st-Century Public Benefits: Emerging Options, Great Promise, and Key Challenges*, CLASP, Urban Institute, May 2012, https://www.clasp.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Moving-to-21st-Century-Public-Benefits.pdf.



- ³⁵ "The Code for America Benefits Enrollment Field Guide" last accessed Oct. 2023.
- 36 Ibid.
- ³⁷ Zoë Neuberger, *State WIC Programs Can Reach More Eligible Families by Collaborating With Other Major Programs That Serve Low-Income Families With Young Children*, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Oct. 2021, https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/wic-coordination-with-medicaid-and-snap.
- ³⁸ Births Financed by Medicaid, KFF, 2022, https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/births-financed-by-medicaid/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
- ³⁹ Suzanne Wikle, *Recommendations to Increase Program Participation by Coordinating Outreach and Enrollment Opportunities*, CLASP, Sept. 2021, https://www.clasp.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/2021_Outreach-and-enrollment-coordination.pdf.
- ⁴⁰ § 32–551.02(c)(1) of July 20, 2023, Universal Paid Leave Administration Fund, Code of the District of Columbia, https://code.dccouncil.gov/us/dc/council/code/sections/32-551.02#(c)(1).
- ⁴¹ "Public benefits navigators" are listed as an allowable use of funds in this guidance. SLFRF dollars must be obligated by December 31, 2024, and must be expended by December 31, 2026.
- Fact Sheet: The Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Will Deliver \$350 Billion for State, Local, Territorial, and Tribal Governments to Respond to the COVID-19 Emergency and Bring Back Jobs, U.S. Department of Treasury, May 2021, https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/SLFRP-Fact-Sheet-FINAL1-508A.pdf.
- ⁴² Having a Child and Early Childhood, General Services Administration, last accessed Nov. 2023,
- https://www.performance.gov/cx/life-experiences/having-a-child-and-early-childhood-for-low-income-families/.
- ⁴³ Dulce Gonzalez, Michael Karpman, and Clara Alvarez Caraveo, *Immigrant Families in California Faced Barriers Accessing Safety Net Programs in 2021, but Community Organizations Helped Many Enroll,* Urban Institute, Aug. 2022, https://www.urban.org/research/publication/immigrant-families-california-faced-barriers-accessing-safety-net-programs.
- ⁴⁴ Employee Benefits in the United States, March 2023, U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Sept. 2023,
- https://www.bls.gov/ebs/publications/employee-benefits-in-the-united-states-march-2023. htm #Overview.
- 45 Ibid.
- ⁴⁶ California Unemployment Insurance Code § 2601 *et seq.* San Francisco has enacted a municipal law that grants additional benefits for parental leave for workers.
- ⁴⁷ Beginning in 2025, workers will receive between 70 and 90% of their average weekly wage, depending on their income. Very low-paid workers receive a fixed benefit amount set by statute, which may result in higher wage replacement rates. Senate Bill 951 was signed into law on September 30, 2022, and will phase in benefit increase, so that by 2025, workers earning less than the state's average wage could receive up to 90% of their regular wages while taking leave.
- ⁴⁸ Washington Revised Code 50A.05.005 *et seq.*
- ⁴⁹ The total leave that can be taken is up to 16 weeks in a year. Workers with certain pregnancy-related health needs may receive up to an additional 2 weeks of benefits, which can be combined with other uses up to a total of 18 weeks in a year.
- ⁵⁰ Employers can withhold up to 45% of the premium from workers' wages, and employers cover the remaining cost. Employers with fewer than 50 employees are not required to pay the employer portion, and the cost is absorbed by the fund.
- ⁵¹ Neither the family or medical premium applies to wages above the Social Security contribution base.
- ⁵² D.C. Code Ann. § 32-541.01 *et seq.*
- ⁵³ The total leave that can be taken is up to 16 weeks in a year. Workers with certain pregnancy-related health needs may receive up to an additional 2 weeks of benefits, which can be combined with other uses up to a total of 18 weeks in a year.
- ⁵⁴ "OCC Fact Sheet," *U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Child Care,* May 2022, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/fact-sheet.
- ⁵⁵ "Factsheet: Estimates of Child Care Eligibility & Receipt for Fiscal Year 2019," *U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning & Evaluation*, Sept. 2022,
- https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1d276a590ac166214a5415bee430d5e9/cy2019-child-care-subsidy-eligibility.pdf.
- ⁵⁶ Karen Schulman, *At the crossroads: State Child Care Assistance Policies 2021*, National Women's Law Center, May 2022, https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/State-of-Child-Care-2022-WIP-accessibility.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ These are according to the most recent data available.



- ⁵⁸ "Family Monthly Fee Schedule," CalMatters, 2022, https://calmatters.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/CDSS Famfeeschedule SubChildCare FY2022-23.pdf.
- ⁵⁹ Ibid. The income listed here was calculated by multiplying the highest monthly income threshold listed in the table for a family of 3 by 12 to get a yearly income threshold.
- ⁶⁰ Child Care Law Center, Affordable Child Care Programs in California, 2022,

https://www.childcarelaw.org/content/quick-guide-to-affordable-child-care-programs-in-california/.

⁶¹ The family's income can be up to 65 percent of SMI when reapplying. *Working Connections Child Care*, Washington State Department of Children, Youth, and Families, 2022,

https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/sites/default/files/pubs/EPS_0075.pdf.

- ⁶²"Family Copayment for Subsidized Child Care," Washington Department of Children, Youth, and Families, Oct. 2023, https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/copay_calculation_table.pdf.
- ⁶³ Working Connections Child Care, Washington State Department of Children, Youth, and Families, 2022 https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/sites/default/files/pubs/EPS_0075.pdf.
- ⁶⁴ Mayor Bowser Expands Access to Affordable High-Quality Child Care for DC Families," *Executive Office of the Mayor*, March 2023, https://mayor.dc.gov/release/mayor-bowser-expands-access-affordable-high-quality-child-care-dc-families#:~:text=continue%20that%20work.%E2%80%9D-,By%20raising%20the%20eligibility%20for%20the%20child%20care%20subsidy%20from,for%20a%20family%20of%20four.
- 65 Ibid.
- ⁶⁶ Policy Snapshot: The Child Care Subsidy Program, DC Action for Children, last accessed Nov. 2023,

https://www.weared caction.org/policy-snapshot-child-care-subsidy-program.

⁶⁷ "Medicaid Eligibility," Medicaid.gov., last accessed Nov. 23,

https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/eligibility/index.html#:~:text=To%20participate%20in%20Medicaid%2C%20federal,examples%20of%20mandatory%20eligibility%20groups.

⁶⁸ "2023 Poverty Guidelines," Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2023,

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1c92a9207f3ed5915ca020d58fe77696/detailed-guidelines-2023.pdf.

- ⁶⁹ "Medicaid Eligibility," last accessed Nov. 23.
- 70 Ibid.
- 71 Ibid.
- ⁷² "Policy Basics: Introduction to Medicaid," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, April 2020,

https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/introduction-to-medicaid.

73 "Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions: Interactive Map," KFF, Oct. 2023,

https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/.

- ⁷⁴ "Medicaid Postpartum Coverage Extension Tracker," KFF, Nov. 2023, https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-postpartum-coverage-extension-tracker/.
- ⁷⁵ "The Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)" Healthcare.gov., last accessed Nov. 2023,

https://www.healthcare.gov/medicaid-chip/childrens-health-insurance-program/.

- ⁷⁶ California, Washington, and D.C. have all eliminated their five-year waiting period for income-eligible pregnant persons with certain immigration statuses.
- ⁷⁷ Persons pregnant within the past 12 months are also eligible up to 198% FPL.
- ⁷⁸ Washington state recently received approval to provide continuous coverage for children ages 0-5 until the end of the month in which their 6th birthday falls.
- ⁷⁹ "Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)," Office of Family Assistance, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, June 2022, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/programs/temporary-assistance-needy-families-tanf.
- ⁸⁰ Gina Azito Thompson, Diana Azevedo-McCaffrey, Da'Shon Carr, *Increases in TANF Cash Benefit Levels Are Critical to Help Families Meet Rising Costs*, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Feb. 2023,

https://www.cbpp.org/research/family-income-support/temporary-assistance-for-needy-families.

- 81 Ibid.
- ⁸² California has different TANF benefits per region of the state. The benefits listed here are for Region 1, which represents the most populous counties in the state.
- ⁸³ "CalWORKs Assistance Standards," County of San Diego Health and Human Services, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://hhsaprogramguides.sandiegocounty.gov/CalWORKS/45-

 $200/Resources_and_Desk_Aids/CalWORKs_Assistance_Standards_Chart.pdf.$



- ⁸⁴ WAC 388-478-0035, Maximum earned income limits for TANF, SFA, PWA, and RCA, Washington State Legislature, https://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=388-478-0035.
- ⁸⁵ In D.C., the maximum monthly income limit is increased by \$175 per child ages 2 and over and by \$200 per child under age 2 if the family has child care costs. D.C. also disregards the first \$160 of earnings for work expenses per month.
- "TANF For District Families," DC Department of Human Services, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://dhs.dc.gov/service/tanf-district-families.
- ⁸⁶ In California, households that include individuals with a disability or who are 60 years or older have an asset limit of \$16.333.
- "CalWORKS FAQs, Eligibility" County of San Diego Health and Human Services, last accessed Nov. 2023,

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/ssp/calworks/eligibility.html.

⁸⁷ Washington passed state legislation to increase the TANF asset limit from \$6,000 to \$12,000 beginning in 2024. Certification of Enrollment of 2023, H.B. 1447, 68th Legislature (2023),

https://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2023-24/Pdf/Bills/House%20Passed%20Legislature/1447-S2.PL.pdf?q=20231012131114.

88 In D.C., households that include a person over 60 years old have an asset limit of \$3,250.

District of Columbia, Mayor's office, "District of Columbia State Plan for Administration of the Block Grant for Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)," Oct. 2023,

https://dhs.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/dhs/service_content/attachments/DC%20TANF%20State%20Plan_Oct-2023.pdf,

89 County of San Diego Health and Human Services, "CalWORKS FAQs"

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/ssp/calworks/fags.html.

- ⁹⁰ "TANF and Support Services," Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.dshs.wa.gov/esa/community-services-offices/tanf-and-support-services.
- ⁹¹ "TANF for District Families," last accessed Nov. 2023.
- ⁹² California also provides different benefits based on whether recipients are exempt from work requirements or not exempt. The benefit listed here is for non-exempt recipients in the most populous counties. "CalWORKs Assistance Standards," last accessed Nov. 2023.
- ⁹³ "TANF and Support Services," Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.dshs.wa.gov/esa/community-services-offices/tanf-and-support-services.
- ⁹⁴ In D.C., families also can receive bonuses in addition to the monthly TANF benefit if they meet education and employment goals.
- "TANF for District Families," last accessed Nov. 2023.
- ⁹⁵ Policy Basics: The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, June 2022, https://www.cbpp.org/research/policy-basics-the-supplemental-nutrition-assistance-program-snap.
- ⁹⁶ Gross monthly income is total, non-excluded income, before any deductions have been made.
- "SNAP Eligibility," Food and Nutrition Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, last accessed Nov. 2023,

https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/recipient/eligibility.

- ⁹⁷ Net monthly income is gross income minus allowable deductions.
- "SNAP Eligibility," Food and Nutrition Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/recipient/eligibility.
- 98 "Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Fiscal
- Year (FY) 2024 Maximum Allotments and Deductions," United States Department of Agriculture, Oct. 2023,
- https://fns-prod.azureedge.us/sites/default/files/media/file/FY24-Maximum-Allotments-and-Deductions.pdf.
- ⁹⁹ Parker Gilkesson, "Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility (BBCE) Is Not a SNAP Loophole," CLASP, Aug. 2019,
- https://www.clasp.org/publications/fact-sheet/broad-based-categorical-eligibility-bbce-not-snap-loophole/.
- 100 "Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Fiscal Year (FY) 2024" last accessed Nov. 2023.
- 101 "CalFresh," Benefits.gov last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.benefits.gov/benefit/1228.
- ¹⁰² "Washington Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)," Benefits.gov, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.benefits.gov/benefit/1364.
- ¹⁰³ "District of Columbia Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)" Benefits.gov, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://www.benefits.gov/benefit/1368.
- ¹⁰⁴ "Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC): WIC Eligibility Requirements" Food and Nutrition Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, last accessed Nov. 2023,

https://www.fns.usda.gov/wic/wic-eligibility-requirements.



¹⁰⁵ "2023 Poverty Guidelines," Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, last accessed Nov. 2023, https://aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines/prior-hhs-poverty-guidelines-federal-register-references/2023-poverty-guidelines-computations.

¹⁰⁶ "Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC)," last accessed Nov. 2023.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

¹⁰⁸ Zoe Neuberger and Katie Bergh, 600,000 Young Children and New Parents Could Be Turned Away Unless Congress Adheres to a 25-Year Bipartisan Commitment to Fully Fund WIC, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Sept. 2023, https://www.cbpp.org/blog/600000-young-children-and-new-parents-could-be-turned-away-unless-congress-adheres-to-a-25.

